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WILLIAMS, J.: This is an appeal from an action for partition of real property 
brought on behalf of Sandra P. Perkins (Decedent) by Vanessa Williams 
(Daughter) as conservator and guardian of Decedent and as the personal 
representative of Decedent's estate.  On appeal, Bradford Jeffcoat, Decedent's 
domestic partner of twenty years,1 asserts the Alabama Probate Court lacked 
subject matter jurisdiction to appoint Daughter as the conservator and guardian for 
Decedent.  Jeffcoat additionally contends the master-in-equity erred in granting 
Daughter's motion for summary judgment and compelling the partition and sale of 
the property at issue.  We affirm. 

FACTS/PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On April 28, 2000, Jeffcoat purchased real property in Charleston, South Carolina. 
On July 1, 2000, Jeffcoat conveyed a one-half interest in the property to Decedent 
in exchange for a mortgage in the amount of $43,550.  The deed stated Jeffcoat and 
Decedent held the property "jointly with right of survivorship, and not as tenants in 
common."  Decedent satisfied the mortgage in full in June 2015. 

From 2000 to 2015, Decedent and Jeffcoat lived together on the property.  In 2009, 
Decedent began to suffer from advanced dementia, and her condition steadily 
declined.  In April 2015, Daughter, Decedent's only child, came to Charleston at 
Jeffcoat's request to help temporarily care for Decedent while Jeffcoat was at work.  
Decedent had previously appointed Daughter as her durable power of attorney and 
health care power of attorney.  After assessing Decedent's condition, Daughter 
moved Decedent to Alabama, where Daughter resided, in June 2015. 

Upon returning to Alabama, Daughter petitioned the Alabama Probate Court to 
become Decedent's conservator and guardian, and the probate court issued 
permanent letters of guardianship and conservatorship on September 15, 2015.2 

In November 2015, Decedent's health began to rapidly decline. On the advice of 
counsel in Alabama and South Carolina, Daughter, in her capacity as Decedent's 

1 Jeffcoat and Decedent never married. 
2 The probate court previously issued temporary letters of guardianship over 
Decedent to Daughter on July 7, 2015, following Daughter's emergency petition 
for guardianship and conservatorship in which she asserted Decedent's health and 
mental state jeopardized her welfare and safety. 
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conservator, executed a deed transferring Decedent's one-half interest in the 
property to Daughter on November 16, 2015, to preserve Decedent's interest in the 
property. Thereafter, Daughter filed a complaint in the circuit court seeking the 
partition and sale of the subject property, and the case was referred to the master. 
Jeffcoat timely filed answers and counterclaims.  Decedent passed away on 
November 27, 2015. 

Following Decedent's death, Daughter amended the pleadings to include her 
designation as the personal representative for Decedent's estate, and both Daughter 
and Jeffcoat filed motions for summary judgment.  The master held a hearing on 
the motions and took the matter under advisement.  On June 28, 2018, the master 
issued an order granting Daughter's motion for summary judgment and compelling 
the partition and sale of the property. This appeal followed. 

ISSUES ON APPEAL 

I. Did the Alabama Probate Court have subject matter jurisdiction to appoint 
Daughter as guardian and conservator for Decedent? 

II. Did the master err in granting Daughter's motion for summary judgment and 
compelling the partition and sale of the property? 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the 
same standard that governs the" master pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP. Penza v. 
Pendleton Station, LLC, 404 S.C. 198, 203, 743 S.E.2d 850, 852 (Ct. App. 2013). 
Summary judgment may be granted when "there is no genuine issue as to any 
material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. 
"In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all 
reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to 
the nonmoving party." Id. at 203, 743 S.E.2d at 852–53.  "Thus, the appellate 
court reviews all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the 
evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party." Pee Dee Stores, Inc. 
v. Doyle, 381 S.C. 234, 240, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009). 
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LAW/ANALYSIS 

I. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

Jeffcoat contends the master erred in granting Daughter's motion for summary 
judgment and compelling the partition and sale of the property because the 
Alabama Probate Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to appoint Daughter as 
Decedent's guardian and conservator. We disagree. 

Subject matter jurisdiction is a court's "power to hear and determine cases of the 
general class to which the proceedings in question belong." Simmons v. Simmons, 
370 S.C. 109, 113–14, 634 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting Watson v. 
Watson, 319 S.C. 92, 93, 460 S.E.2d 394, 395 (1995)). 

"The Constitution provides that 'Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State 
to the public Acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State.'" V.L. v. 
E.L., 577 U.S. 404, 406 (2016) (per curiam) (quoting U.S. Const., Art. IV, § 1). 
"That Clause requires each State to recognize and give effect to valid judgments 
rendered by the courts of its sister States." Id. at 406–07. 

A State is not required, however, to afford full faith and 
credit to a judgment rendered by a court that did not have 
jurisdiction over the subject matter or the relevant parties. 
Consequently, before a court is bound by [a] judgment 
rendered in another State, it may inquire into the 
jurisdictional basis of the foreign court's decree.  That 
jurisdictional inquiry, however, is a limited one.  [I]f the 
judgment on its face appears to be a record of a court of 
general jurisdiction, such jurisdiction over the cause and 
the parties is to be presumed unless disproved by 
extrinsic evidence, or by the record itself. 

Id. at 407 (alterations in original) (emphases added) (citations and quotation marks 
omitted). 
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The Alabama Uniform Adult Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Jurisdiction 
Act (the Act)3 provides Alabama courts with exclusive jurisdiction to appoint 
guardians or conservators for adults. See § 26-2B-202 ("This article provides the 
exclusive jurisdictional basis for a court of this state to appoint a guardian or issue 
a protective order for an adult." (emphasis added)).  Under the Act, an Alabama 
court 

has jurisdiction to appoint a guardian or issue a protective 
order for a respondent if . . . on the date the petition is 
filed, [Alabama] is a significant-connection state 
and . . . the respondent has a home state, a petition for an 
appointment or order is not pending in a court of th[e 
home] state or another significant-connection state and 
before the court makes the appointment or issues the 
order: (i) a petition for an appointment or order is not 
filed in the respondent's home state; (ii) an objection to 
the court's jurisdiction is not filed by a person required to 
be notified of the proceeding; and (iii) the court in this 
state concludes that it is an appropriate forum under the 
factors set forth in [s]ection 26-2B-206. 

§ 26-2B-203(a)(2)(B).  The Act provides a state is considered a 
significant-connection state if the "respondent has a significant connection other 
than mere physical presence and in which substantial evidence concerning the 
respondent is available."  § 26-2B-201(a)(3).  In determining whether a state is a 
significant-connection state, the court must consider: 

(1) the location of the respondent's family and other 
persons required to be notified of the guardianship or 
protective proceeding; 
(2) the length of time the respondent at any time was 
physically present in the state and the duration of any 
absence; 
(3) the location of the respondent's property; and 
(4) the extent to which the respondent has ties to the state 
such as voting registration, state or local tax return filing, 

3 Ala. Code §§ 26-2B-101 to -503 (West, Westlaw through Act 2021-118). 
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vehicle registration, driver's license, social relationship, 
and receipt of services. 

§ 26-2B-201(b). 

Based on the foregoing, we find the Alabama Probate Court possessed subject 
matter jurisdiction to appoint Daughter as Decedent's guardian and conservator. 
The Act provides Alabama courts with exclusive jurisdiction to appoint 
conservators and guardians for adults. See § 26-2B-202 ("This article provides the 
exclusive jurisdictional basis for a court of this state to appoint a guardian or issue 
a protective order for an adult." (emphasis added)). Therefore, Alabama probate 
courts possess the "power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which 
the proceedings in question belong" if the requirements of section 26-2B-203 are 
met. See Simmons, 370 S.C. at 113, 634 S.E.2d at 3 (quoting Watson, 319 S.C. at 
93, 460 S.E.2d at 395). 

In making this determination, we must first assess Decedent's connection to 
Alabama. See § 26-2B-203(a)(1), (2) (providing that Alabama courts have 
jurisdiction to appoint a guardian for an adult if Alabama is the potential ward's 
home state or a significant-connection state). In her petitions for guardianship and 
conservatorship, Daughter never alleged that Alabama was Decedent's home state, 
instead asserting Alabama was a significant-connection state for Decedent. We 
agree.  Daughter, who was Decedent's durable and health care power of attorney 
and only child, resided in Alabama.  Additionally, Decedent possessed assets that 
were held in an account at a brokerage firm in Foley, Alabama. Therefore, we find 
Decedent had a significant connection to Alabama. See § 26-2B-201(b) (providing 
that when determining whether an individual has a significant connection to a state, 
the court must consider "(1) the location of the respondent's family and other 
persons required to be notified of the guardianship or protective proceeding; (2) the 
length of time the respondent at any time was physically present in the state and 
the duration of any absence; (3) the location of the respondent's property; and (4) 
the extent to which the respondent has ties to the state such as voting registration, 
state or local tax return filing, vehicle registration, driver's license, social 
relationship, and receipt of services"). 

Additionally, the record does not contain any evidence that when Daughter 
petitioned for appointment and while the petition was pending, a petition was 
simultaneously pending in South Carolina, Decedent's home state, or that 
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objections to the Alabama court's jurisdiction were filed. See 
§ 26-2B-203(a)(2)(B) (providing that before an Alabama court makes an 
appointment, it must determine that a petition for appointment has not been filed in 
the individual's home state or another significant-connection state and that no 
objections to the court's jurisdiction have been filed by a person who is required to 
receive notice of the proceeding).  Although Jeffcoat contends he was an individual 
required to be notified of the appointment proceeding, this contention is without 
merit as Jeffcoat was not a spouse or relative of Decedent, did not serve as 
Decedent's power of attorney, and did not possess any other legal rights entitling 
him to notice of Decedent's welfare. See § 26-2B-208 ("If a petition for the 
appointment of a guardian or issuance of a protective order is brought in this state 
and this state was not the respondent's home state on the date the petition was filed, 
in addition to complying with the notice requirements of this state, notice of the 
petition must be given to those persons who would be entitled to notice of the 
petition if a proceeding were brought in the respondent's home state, if any."). 
Accordingly, we hold the Alabama Probate Court had subject matter jurisdiction to 
appoint Daughter as Decedent's conservator and guardian. 

II. Summary Judgment4 

Jeffcoat asserts the master erred in granting summary judgment to Daughter and 
compelling the partition and sale of the property because Daughter's conveyance of 
Decedent's one-half interest did not sever the joint tenancy and extinguish his right 
of survivorship.5 Specifically, Jeffcoat argues section 27-7-40 of the South 

4 Jeffcoat additionally contends the master erred in granting summary judgment to 
Daughter because genuine issues of material fact existed rendering summary 
judgment improper.  However, in his motion for summary judgment, he asserted 
there were no issues of material fact.  Additionally, at the motions hearing, the 
master stated no issues of material fact existed and the relevant matter was solely 
one of law.  Jeffcoat neither objected to the master's assessment nor filed a Rule 
59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend the master's order.  Therefore, we decline 
to address this issue on appeal. See Miller v. Dillon, 432 S.C. 197, 207, 851 S.E.2d 
462, 468 (Ct. App. 2020) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and 
an alternate ground on appeal." (quoting State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 
S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003))). 
5 The parties do not dispute that Jeffcoat and Decedent held a joint tenancy with a 
right of survivorship in the property. 
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Carolina Code (2007) does not allow for one cotenant to convey his or her 
undivided interest in the property to a third party.  As our jurisprudence has not 
addressed this inquiry specifically, this is a matter of first impression for this court. 
However, our precedent on related issues sufficiently informs our determination. 

In South Carolina, parties may establish a joint tenancy through either common 
law or statute.  Although South Carolina now construes deeds conveying a shared 
interest in property in favor of tenancies in common rather than joint tenancies, our 
jurisprudence still allows for the creation of common law joint tenancies. See 
Smith v. Cutler, 366 S.C. 546, 550–51, 623 S.E.2d 644, 646–47 (2005) 
(differentiating common law joint tenancies with tenancies in common with a right 
of survivorship); Estate of Sherman ex rel. Maddock v. Estate of Sherman ex rel. 
Snodgrass, 359 S.C. 407, 410–11, 597 S.E.2d 850, 851 (Ct. App. 2004) (indicating 
this court recognizes common law joint tenancies); see also § 27-7-40(a) ("In 
addition to any other methods for the creation of a joint tenancy in real estate 
which may exist by law, whenever any deed of conveyance of real estate contains 
the names of the grantees followed by the words 'as joint tenants with rights of 
survivorship, and not as tenants in common' the creation of a joint tenancy with 
rights of survivorship in the real estate is conclusively deemed to have been 
created." (emphasis added)).  

Under the common law, a conveyance must possess the unities of interest, title, 
time, and possession to create a joint tenancy with a right of survivorship. 
Snodgrass, 359 S.C. at 410, 597 S.E.2d at 851.  Possession of all four unities is 
essential to the existence of the joint tenancy; therefore, any act that destroys one 
of the four unities severs the joint tenancy and extinguishes the accompanying 
right of survivorship possessed by the cotenants. See 6 S.C. Jur. Cotenancies § 20. 
Thus, under the common law, a cotenant's conveyance of his or her interest in the 
property to a third party severs the joint tenancy resulting in a tenancy in common 
between the remaining cotenant and third party. Id. 

Jeffcoat asserts section 27-7-40 prohibits common law severance of joint tenancies 
in South Carolina.  It states: 

(a) In addition to any other methods for the creation of a 
joint tenancy in real estate which may exist by law, 
whenever any deed of conveyance of real estate contains 
the names of the grantees followed by the words "as joint 
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tenants with rights of survivorship, and not as tenants in 
common" the creation of a joint tenancy with rights of 
survivorship in the real estate is conclusively deemed to 
have been created.  This joint tenancy includes, and is 
limited to, the following incidents of ownership: 

(i) In the event of the death of a joint tenant, and in 
the event only one other joint tenant in the joint 
tenancy survives, the entire interest of the deceased 
joint tenant in the real estate vests in the surviving 
joint tenant, who is vested with the entire interest 
in the real estate owned by the joint tenants. 

(ii) In the event of the death of a joint tenant 
survived by more than one joint tenant in the real 
estate, the entire interest of the deceased joint 
tenant vests equally in the surviving joint tenants 
who continues to own the entire interest owned by 
them as joint tenants with right of survivorship. 

(iii) The fee interest in real estate held in joint 
tenancy may not be encumbered by a joint tenant 
acting alone without the joinder of the other joint 
tenant or tenants in the encumbrance. 

(iv) If all the joint tenants who own real estate held 
in joint tenancy join in an encumbrance, the 
interest in the real estate is effectively encumbered 
to a third party or parties. 

(v) If real estate is owned by only two joint 
tenants, a conveyance by one joint tenant to the 
other joint tenant terminates the joint tenancy and 
conveys the fee in the real estate to the other joint 
tenant. 
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(vi) If real estate is owned by more than two joint 
tenants, a conveyance by one joint tenant to all the 
other joint tenants therein conveys his interest 
therein equally to the other joint tenants who 
continue to own the real estate as joint tenants with 
right of survivorship. 

(vii) Any joint tenancy in real estate held by a 
husband and wife with no other joint tenants is 
severed upon the filing of an order or decree 
dissolving their marriage and vests the interest in 
both the parties as tenants in common, unless an 
order or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction 
otherwise provides. 

(viii) The interest of any joint tenant in a joint 
tenancy in real estate sold or conveyed by a court 
of competent jurisdiction where otherwise 
permitted by law severs the joint tenancy, unless 
the order or decree of such court otherwise 
provides and vests title in the parties as tenants in 
common. 

(ix) If real estate is owned by two or more joint 
tenants, a conveyance by all the joint tenants to 
themselves as tenants in common severs the joint 
tenancy and conveys the fee in the real estate to 
these individuals as tenants in common. 

(b) The surviving joint tenant or tenants may, following 
the death of a joint tenant, file with the Register of Deeds 
of the county in which the real estate is located a certified 
copy of the certificate of death of the deceased joint 
tenant. The fee to be paid to the Register of Deeds for 
this filing is the same as the fee for the deed of 
conveyance.  The Register of Deeds must index the 
certificate of death under the name of the deceased joint 
tenant in the grantor deed index of that office.  The filing 
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of the certificate of death is conclusive that the joint 
tenant is deceased and that the interest of the deceased 
joint tenant has vested by operation of law in the 
surviving joint tenant or tenants in the joint tenancy in 
real estate. 

(c) Except as expressly provided herein, any joint 
tenancy severed pursuant to the terms of this section is 
and becomes a tenancy in common without rights of 
survivorship.  Nothing contained in this section shall be 
construed to create the estate of tenancy by the entireties. 
Nothing contained in this section amends any statute 
relating to joint tenancy with rights of survivorship in 
personal property but affects only real estate.  The 
provisions of this section must be liberally construed to 
carry out the intentions of the parties.  This section 
supersedes any conflicting provisions of Section 
62-2-804. 

Prior to the enactment of this statute, parties solely in possession of a property had 
to make an intervening conveyance to a "strawman" to effectively create a joint 
tenancy between themselves and additional cotenants in the previously owned 
property. See John V. Orth, The Perils of Joint Tenancies, 44 Real Prop. Tr. & Est. 
L.J. 427, 431 (2009). Over the years, states have enacted statutes to allow for the 
creation of such joint tenancies without the need for an intervening transfer. See 
e.g., Cal. Civ. Code § 683 (West 2017); Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 38-31-101 (West 
2008); 765 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. § 1005/1b (West 2004).  We find such was the 
purpose and intent behind section 27-7-40. See Silva ex rel. Estate of Silva v. 
Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 424 S.C. 512, 517, 818 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2018) 
("The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain the intent of the 
General Assembly.").  Although the statute contains the limiting language "[t]his 
joint tenancy includes, and is limited to, the following incidents of ownership," we 
find this does not prohibit common law methods of severance but rather addresses 
the language below detailing a cotenant's rights in the property upon a cotenant's 
death and subsequent to any conveyances between the cotenants themselves. See 
id. ("The true guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated 
section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in the 
light of its manifest purpose." (quoting Jackson v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 316 
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S.C. 177, 181,  447 S.E.2d 859, 861 (1994))).   This interpretation is further  
strengthened when the statute  is read as a  whole.  Moreover,  our precedent 
supports this conclusion.   See Cutler, 366 S.C. at 550,  623 S.E.2d at 647 ("[U]nlike  
a tenancy in common with a right of survivorship, a joint tenancy  with a right of  
survivorship is capable of  being defeated by the unilateral act of  one joint tenant."); 
id.  at 551, 623 S.E.2d at 647 ("[A] tenancy in common with a right of survivorship 
cannot be defeated by the act of one  tenant absent the agreement of the other  
tenant.").  Thus, we  disagree with Jeffcoat's assertion that section 27-7-40  rendered  
the  conveyance of Decedent's interest to Daughter  void.  
 
Accordingly, we  hold  the master  properly found Daughter's conveyance of  
Decedent's one-half interest in the  property to herself, in her capacity as Decedent's 
guardian and conservator, severed the joint tenancy between Decedent and Jeffcoat 
and extinguished Jeffcoat's right of  survivorship.  Therefore,  Jeffcoat's rights to the  
property never  vested as the conveyance  to Daughter occurred  prior to Decedent's  
passing.  Thus, the master did not err in granting Daughter's motion for  summary  
judgment and  in  compelling the  partition and sale of  the property.   See  Penza, 404  
S.C. at 203,  743 S.E.2d at 852 (providing that summary  judgment may be granted 
when there is no genuine  issue as to any material fact and the  moving party is 
entitled to judgment as a matter of  law).6    

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the master's order is 

AFFIRMED. 

THOMAS and HILL, JJ., concur. 

6 Before the master, Jeffcoat additionally asserted that even if the conveyance 
severed the joint tenancy, the conveyance was void because Alabama law 
prevented Daughter from making a conveyance of Decedent's property to herself. 
Jeffcoat raises this as a genuine issue of material fact in his appellant's brief, which 
is unpreserved for appellate review.  He also fails to challenge on appeal the 
master's conclusion of law that the conveyance was proper.  Therefore, this court is 
precluded from addressing this issue. See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC 
v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("[A]n unappealed ruling, 
right or wrong, is the law of the case."). 
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MCDONALD, J.: James Caleb Williams appeals his convictions for attempted 
murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, 
arguing the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because 
no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence supports a finding that Williams 
had a specific intent to kill the victim. We find the doctrine of transferred intent 
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inapplicable to this charge of attempted murder; thus, we reverse Williams's 
convictions.1 

Facts and Procedural History 

In the early morning hours of May 2, 2015, Corporal Randy Jones of the Sumter 
Police Department (SPD) was dispatched to a shooting outside Club Cream in 
Sumter. In the club parking lot, Corporal Jones found Ashley R., a fifteen-year-old 
female who had been shot in the leg. Law enforcement subsequently recovered six 
shell casings and a black Springfield model XD .40 Smith and Wesson from the 
parking lot area. 

On March 17, 2016, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Williams for two 
counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the 
commission of a violent crime. Williams pled not guilty, and his jury trial began 
on July 17, 2017.  

Chelsea Rogers reluctantly testified that on May 2, 2015, she went to Club Cream 
for a teen party.  She explained a "teen party" is "where a lot of teens get together, 
you know, have fun, but something bad always ends up happening." Rogers and 
her friends arrived around 11:30 p.m. or 12:00 a.m. and were "dancing and having 
fun" when she saw "something going on" on the other side of the club; however, 
when nothing materialized, the group went back to dancing. 

Sometime between 1:00 and 2:00 a.m., Rogers left the club to go home. Her then-
boyfriend, Malik Myers, exited a few minutes later.  Rogers recalled, "After that, 
we [were] walking to the car and I told [Myers] to come on, let's go.  When we got 
over there to the car, I heard a gunshot." At that point, Myers "ran over there—to 
where his friends were, I guess, and that's when I—I heard another gunshot, and 
then I heard another one come back from right where everybody was at." She 
further stated, "I didn't know if [Myers] had [a gun] or not, but I did not see him 
with one." 

Ashley R. arrived at the party between 10:00 and 11:00 p.m., and was leaving Club 
Cream as it closed at 2:00 a.m. When Ashley R. reached the parking lot, she heard 

1 With respect to Williams's conviction for possession of a weapon during the 
commission of a violent crime, we reverse and remand. 
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"fight, gun, shooting. That's when—by the time I could duck down, [it felt] like a 
bee sting. I touched my leg, and started to panic."2 She heard gunshots and saw 
Myers, whom she had met earlier that day.  Ashley R. testified, "I [saw] him shoot 
after—I [saw] the other like two—two shots before he [shot], that's when I ducked 
down."  After initially answering that she did not see Myers shoot first, Ashley R. 
explained, "I [saw Myers] with a gun, that's when I heard the—before he [shot], I 
heard like two more, two or three gunshots before he [shot]." On the night of the 
incident, Ashley R. told law enforcement she was shot by an "unknown black man" 
and recalled at trial that she did not really know Myers until he "came to me and 
apologized to me afterwards. That's how I [got] to know him." 

On cross-examination, Ashley R. admitted that in her written statement to police, 
she identified Myers as the man who started the shooting and her statement did not 
include that she heard shots before Myers fired his weapon. Defense counsel 
asked her on cross-examination: 

Q: You can't testify today who was shooting the shots, 
who was actually shooting, can you? 

A:  Not the first two shots. 

. . . . 

Q:  And the shot that hit you, you pretty sure who shot 
you? 

A:  Like when it first happened? 

Q:  Uh-huh. 

A:  Since I [saw Myers], I thought he shot me, but that's 
when—because after that, because he came to me, he 
apologized— 

. . . 

2 Ashley R. estimated four or five shots were fired before she realized she had been 
shot in the leg and was bleeding. 
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Q:  Why would he apologize if he did not shoot you? 
What is he apologizing for? 

A:  I'm not sure. 

Q:  He apologized for shooting you? 

A:  I'm not sure.  After he said that, I said, "You good. 
I'm not mad at you."  He said, "Okay." 

Q:  Okay.  But you don't know what he was apologizing 
for? 

A: No sir. 

Myers pled guilty to one count of assault and battery of a high and aggravated 
nature (ABHAN) for his involvement in the Club Cream incident. Despite his 
prior written statement to the police indicating he and Williams "had beef" in the 
past, Myers testified at trial: "Man, I just came from a hospital, man. I wasn't 
thinking right when I was writing my statement. . . . [I]t wasn't no altercation. It 
was just some words." Myers also contradicted his written statement—in which 
Myers claimed Williams shot him in the leg—by denying Williams made any hand 
gestures toward him while inside the club. Myers admitted he had his .38 revolver 
that night "because anything could have happened after the club," and repeatedly 
denied any knowledge of whether Williams was the person who shot him.  Myers 
testified, " I didn't know whether James Williams was shooting or not.  I'm just 
saying—I—you telling me—I just know I got shot. You're saying he's the shooter. 
I'm telling you[,] I didn't know he was shooting. That's what this statement said." 

At the conclusion of the State's case, Williams moved for a directed verdict, 
arguing neither Ashley R. nor Myers could identify their shooter and the State's 
expert could not conclusively connect the bullet removed from Ashley R.'s leg with 
Williams's weapon.3 The circuit court denied the motion, finding "there is 

3 SLED ballistics and firearms agent Michelle Eichenmiller testified that in her 
opinion, cartridge cases found at the scene "were fired by [the Springfield model 
XD .40 Smith and Wesson]." As to the bullet removed from Ashley R.'s leg, 
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evidence in the record, both direct and circumstantial that would support the 
charges." The circuit court explained its "recollection of the testimony [was] that 
the defendant, Mr. Williams, fired first and was firing at both Mr. Malik Myers and 
that by transferred intent, at the other victim in this case." 

Williams testified in his own defense.  He arrived at the club alone around 11:00 
p.m. and, at some point during the party, Myers bumped into him. Williams 
explained, "We didn't say nothing to each other or anything, but I already knew 
like something was going to happen, like once I left.  That's why I was already in 
my car getting ready to go ahead and leave."  Williams knew something was going 
to happen with Myers "[b]ecause we had problems since we [were] in middle 
school, like we always had words.  But I [knew] it was probably going to end up 
coming to something one day." 

Williams stated he was walking to his car when he saw Myers approaching.  As 
Myers had a gun and began shooting at him, Williams "started shooting, and that's 
when I ran off when I [saw] the security guard coming, and I threw my gun 
under—up under the tree." Williams testified, "But when I was shooting, I was 
shooting into the back of my car so he would think I was shooting back at my car." 
Williams claimed he shot into the back of his own car so that Myers "would have 
thought I was shooting at him, and he would have been—he would have tried to 
run off."  However, Myers did not run.  Instead, Myers "came close to shooting 
[Williams]" and shot Qawiyy McFadden in the ear.  Williams then left the parking 
lot to drive McFadden to the hospital.4 

Eichenmiller "didn't see enough individual characteristics to form an opinion as [to 
whether] it was fired by that firearm." However, she noted "both the Springfield 
XD and the bullet [she] received were six right, conventional rifling with 
approximately the same land and groove width." The bullet removed from the 
victim's leg "could have been [fired from] a 10-millimeter firearm or a 40 S&W." 
Eichenmiller explained, "It's a little bit larger than a .38.  Depending on the 
firearm, I have seen some that have worn barrels that it could have been fired from, 
but not usually." On cross-examination, Eichenmiller admitted a Glock 22 also 
fires a .40 bullet. 

4 Myers, who was initially charged with two counts of attempted murder, pled 
guilty to one count of ABHAN for shooting McFadden in the left ear.  McFadden 
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On cross-examination, Williams admitted he had a black .40 caliber Springfield 
with him in the parking lot and that he fired shots into his own car in an effort to 
scare Myers. He found five bullet casings on top of his car, and regarding the 
sixth, testified, "I probably shot it into the ground." Williams reiterated that Myers 
shot at him first and claimed there were more than two shooters in the parking lot.5 

He testified he did not shoot Ashley R., and he did not intend to shoot anyone. 
McFadden was sitting in Williams's car when he saw "everybody coming out the 
club." Williams's car was backed into the parking space, with the front of the car 
facing the club. McFadden testified, "I got out the car to see what was the next 
move for the night.  And then mix-up—the shots starting going off when I was out 
of the club.  I [saw Williams] go like towards the back of his car and by maybe the 
first five shots, I was already hit." On cross-examination, McFadden admitted he 
did not know if Williams did any of the shooting, nor did he know who fired the 
first shot.  

At the end of his case, Williams renewed his motion for a directed verdict. The 
circuit court denied the motion, finding, "there is evidence in the record by which 
the jury could conclude that the offenses occurred . . . and the believability of those 
witnesses will be a matter for the jury to determine." 

The jury found Williams guilty of the attempted murder of Ashley R., but not 
guilty of the attempted murder of Myers. The jury also found Williams guilty of 
possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The circuit 
court sentenced Williams on the attempted murder conviction to fifteen years' 
imprisonment, suspended upon the service of ten years, and five years' probation. 
As to his conviction for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent 
crime, the court sentenced Williams to a concurrent five years' imprisonment. 

testified Myers's shot hit him from the front, and there is no evidence in the record 
to the contrary. 

5 SPD crime scene investigator Amanda Snapp testified during the defense's case. 
Based on her examination, "it appeared that there [were] five bullet holes in the 
roof line of the vehicle." Snapp further stated "there [were] no bullet holes in the 
front of [Williams's] vehicle, so I can only imagine that they came from the back of 
the vehicle, most likely." 
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Standard of Review 

"In ruling on a motion for directed verdict in a criminal case, a trial court must 
view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State." State v. James, 362 
S.C. 557, 561, 608 S.E.2d 455, 457 (Ct. App. 2004).  "The trial court is concerned 
with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." Id.  "The accused 
is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence on a 
material element of the offense charged." State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 503, 697 
S.E.2d 593, 596 (2010). 

Law and Analysis 

Williams argues the circuit court erred in failing to direct a verdict on the 
attempted murder charge because the State failed to present any direct or 
substantial circumstantial evidence that he had the specific intent to kill anyone— 
either Myers or Ashley R.  He asserts the circuit court erroneously applied the 
doctrine of transferred intent because the offense of attempted murder requires a 
specific intent to commit murder. We agree.6 

6 Our dissenting colleague urges us to decline to consider the applicability of the 
doctrine of transferred intent to this charge of attempted murder.  The dissent 
would find the matter unpreserved for our review on the basis that the trial court 
"was not given the opportunity to consider all the relevant facts, law, and argument 
and rule on this issue." (Huff, J., dissenting). Our review of the record, however, 
reveals the trial judge had such opportunity when defense counsel moved for a 
directed verdict on the basis that the State had not met its burden of proof beyond a 
reasonable doubt.  In response, the State argued, "And also just specifically 
because he [Williams] was not shooting directly at Ashley, I would point out that 
we're proceeding under transferred intent and we do believe that he was firing his 
gun with malice and the bullet struck Ashley R."  The circuit court ruled 
immediately−giving defense counsel no chance to reply to the State's 
argument−citing Rule 19 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure and 
recollecting its understanding of the testimony that "the defendant, Mr. Williams, 
fired and was firing at both Mr. Malik Myers and that by transferred intent, at the 
other victim in this case." 

While we acknowledge the defense could have better articulated the precise 
question of transferred intent at trial, like the dissent, we recognize "a party need 
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In State v. King, our supreme court affirmed this court's opinion that "the 
Legislature intended to require the State to prove specific intent to commit murder 
as an element of attempted murder." 422 S.C. 47, 55, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017) 
(quoting State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 411, 772 S.E.2d 189, 193 (Ct. App. 2015)); 
S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2015) ("A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to 
kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits 
the offense of attempted murder."). The supreme court explained, "Because the 
phrase 'with intent to kill' in section 16-3-29 does not identify what level of intent 
is required, the Court of Appeals properly looked to the legislative history of 
section 16-3-29 and appellate decisions holding that 'attempt crimes require the 
State to prove the defendant had specific intent to complete the attempted crime.'" 
Id. (quoting King, 412 S.C. at 409, 772 S.E.2d at 192). Although the supreme 
court agreed with the State that certain language referenced from State v. Sutton, 
340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), was dicta, it found Sutton's definition of 
"specific intent" to be an accurate statement of the law. King, 422 S.C. at 55–56, 
810 S.E.2d at 22 ("'Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill,' and 
'specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of 
acts comprising the [attempted] offense.'" (quoting Sutton, 340 S.C. at 397, 532 
S.E.2d at 285)). 

not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be 
clear that the argument has been presented on that ground." State v. Carmack, 388 
S.C. 190, 200–01, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting State v. Dunbar, 
356 S.C. 138,142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 94 (2003)). Notably, the State did not raise 
preservation as an issue in its respondent's brief. See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. 
Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 418 n.6, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 n.6 (2000) ("Under present 
rules, the appellant receives notice of the respondent's additional sustaining 
grounds through the respondent's brief. The appellant may address those 
additional grounds in a reply brief." (citing Rule 208(a)(3), SCACR.")); Atl. Coast 
Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 332–33, 730 S.E.2d 282, 287 
(2012) ("When the opposing party does not raise a preservation issue on appeal, 
courts are not precluded from finding the issue unpreserved if the error is clear. 
However, the silence of an adversary should serve as an indicator to the court of 
the obscurity of the purported procedural flaw." (Toal, C.J., concurring in result in 
part and dissenting in part)). 
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In State v. Gerald Williams, our supreme court considered a case in which one of 
the issues raised involved "whether and to what extent the common law doctrine of 
transferred intent applies to the newly-codified crime of attempted murder."  427 
S.C. 148, 149, 829 S.E.2d 702, 702 (2019).  There, the petitioner was convicted of 
three counts of attempted murder related to his alleged shooting into an occupied 
mobile home where he knew his intended victim was present, but did not realize 
two other individuals were in the trailer as well. Id. at 150, 829 S.E.2d at 702.  The 
court explained: 

Under the common law, transferred intent makes a whole 
crime out of two halves by joining the intent to harm one 
victim with the actual harm caused to another. Normally, 
transferred intent applies to general-intent crimes. 
However, attempted murder is a specific-intent crime in 
South Carolina, and we have not yet addressed whether 
transferred intent may supply the requisite mens rea for 
such a crime. 

Because this case was tried without objection as a 
general-intent crime, we find the doctrine of transferred 
intent applies in this instance. We therefore decline to 
address the applicability of transferred intent to a 
specific-intent crime such as attempted murder and 
vacate the portion of the court of appeals' opinion dealing 
with this issue. 

Id. at 150, 829 S.E.2d at 702–03.7 

7 As in Gerald Williams, this case was tried before our supreme court's decision in 
King, but after the General Assembly's 2010 codification of the crime of attempted 
murder. See 427 S.C. at 153 n.4, 829 S.E.2d at 705 n.4. However, unlike the 
attempted murder charge in Gerald Williams, Williams's attempted murder charge 
was not tried as a general intent crime. In the charge to the jury here, the circuit 
court instructed that "an attempt includes a specific intent to do a particular 
criminal act with an act falling short of the act intended."  The court's instructions 
on transferred intent and self-defense followed, without objection.  Although a 
brief charge conference was held on the record prior to closing arguments, and 
defense counsel initially expressed concern about the transferred intent charge, the 
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Although not directly on point, our supreme court's more recent opinion in State v. 
Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 495 (2020), is helpful to our analysis here. Smith 
involved an attempted murder conviction resulting from the accidental shooting of 
an innocent victim in the vicinity of a dispute among rival gang members. Id. at 
228, 845 S.E.2d at 496. There, the court explained, "[i]t was undisputed Smith did 
not intend to harm [the victim]. Rather, Smith claimed he was acting in self-
defense by shooting at a group of men who had threatened him. Id. Smith missed 
his intended target and hit the victim by accident."  Id. In conceding guilt to a 
felon-in-possession possession charge, but denying the attempted murder charge 
and asserting a claim of self-defense, "Smith implicitly acknowledged he had an 
express intent to kill the men at whom he was shooting, but asserted his actions 
were justified given his belief that he faced an imminent threat to his own life."  Id. 
at 229, 845 S.E.2d at 496. Perhaps recognizing "[t]he law at the time of trial 
precluded an implied malice jury charge (based on the use of a deadly weapon) 
when a viable self-defense claim existed . . . . the State sought to create a new 
category of implied malice for 'felony attempted-murder,' with the predicate felony 
being the felon-in-possession charge."  Id. The supreme court reversed Smith's 
conviction, addressing both the question of whether South Carolina recognizes the 
charge of felony attempted murder (finding that, like the majority of states, we do 
not) as well as the State's request for the erroneous implied malice charge. Id. at 
230, 845 S.E.2d at 496–97. 

As these issues were dispositive, the court declined to address Smith's additional 
argument that "the court of appeals erred in finding the doctrine of transferred 
intent applied to attempted murder because it is a specific-intent crime. Id. at 234 
n. 9, 845 S.E.2d at 499 n. 9. In particular, Smith argue[d] the requisite specific 
intent necessary to support an attempted murder conviction must be the specific 

remainder of the charge discussion was omitted from the record on appeal. 
Williams has not appealed any error related to the circuit court's jury instructions 
and argues only that the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a directed 
verdict because "there was no substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant 
intended to kill or murder Ashely R." Given the facts of this case and these 
distinctions—including the unsettled status of the application of the doctrine of 
transferred attempt to statutory attempted murder—we disagree with our good 
colleague that any failure by Williams to challenge the circuit court's "transferred 
intent" jury instruction forecloses our review of the legal issue raised here. 
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intent to kill a specific person." Id. The court's footnote then referenced the State's 
plan—if the court were to reverse Smith's convictions—to "charge Smith with 
three counts of attempted murder for shooting at the rival group, and one count of 
assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) for shooting the 
victim" and noted that because ABHAN is a general-intent crime, "there would be 
no question on remand as to the applicability of the doctrine of transferred intent." 
Id.; see also Gerald Williams, 427 S.E.2d at 157, 829 S.E.2d at 707 ("It is well-
settled in South Carolina that the doctrine of transferred intent applies to general-
intent crimes."). 

Considering this footnote along with our supreme court's recent pronouncements in 
King and Gerald Williams, along with Williams's acquittal here of the attempted 
murder of Malik Myers, we find the doctrine of transferred intent inapplicable in 
the context of the current indictment charging Williams with the attempt "to kill 
another person, Ashley R., with malice aforethought, either express or implied, by 
firing a gun numerous times at Malik Raekwon Myers, and striking Ashely R. with 
a bullet in her thigh." While it is undisputed that Williams was armed and fired his 
weapon in the parking lot, we cannot reconcile the jury's acquittal of Williams on 
the attempted murder charge for the shooting of Myers with its guilty verdict for an 
attempted murder of Ashley R. The language of the indictment and the State's 
contention that it was "proceeding under transferred intent and we do believe that 
[Williams] was firing his gun with malice and the bullet struck Ashely R." are 
incongruous with such a result. 

At oral argument, the State reiterated it was proceeding under the doctrine of 
transferred intent and admitted Williams did not possess a specific attempt to kill 
Ashley R. with malice aforethought. This was a reasonable position in light of our 
case law at the time of trial; however, we do not understand how the specific intent 
for an attempted murder for which Williams was acquitted (shooting at Myers) 
could be transferred for purposes of establishing a specific intent to kill Ashley 
R.—even if the doctrine of transferred intent were applicable to South Carolina's 
codification of attempted murder, a specific-intent crime. 

Conclusion 

We find the doctrine of transferred intent inapplicable to this charge of attempted 
murder.  The circuit court erred in denying Williams's directed verdict motion 
because § 16-3-29 requires proof of a specific intent to kill.  The jury acquitted 
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Williams of the attempted murder of Myers, and no evidence in the record suggests 
Williams possessed any intent to kill Ashley R.  See Gerald Williams, 427 S.C. at 
150, 829 S.E.2d at 702–03 (holding attempted murder is a specific-intent crime in 
South Carolina); Brannon, 388 S.C. at 503, 697 S.E.2d at 596 (explaining a 
defendant "is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence 
on a material element of the offense charged."). Thus, we reverse Williams's 
conviction for attempted murder.  Given that we reverse Williams's conviction for 
attempted murder, "we must also reverse and remand his conviction for possession 
of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime."  Smith, 430 S.C. at 230 
n.4, 845 S.E.2d at 497 n.4.  Williams "must be reconvicted of committing a violent 
crime before he can properly be found to have illegally possessed a weapon during 
that crime."8 Id.; see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A) (2015) (requiring where 
a person is in possession of a firearm "during the commission of a violent crime 
and is convicted of committing or attempting to commit a violent crime as defined 
in Section 16-1-60, he must be imprisoned five years, in addition to the punishment 
provided for the principal crime."). 

REVERSED and REMANDED. 

THOMAS, J., concurs. 

HUFF, J., dissenting in a separate opinion. 

HUFF, J.: I respectfully dissent.  First, and most importantly, whether the 
doctrine of transferred intent was properly applied in this attempted murder case 
was never an issue raised to the trial court, and was certainly not a basis of 
Appellant's motions for directed verdict before the trial court.  Accordingly, this 
argument is not preserved for our review. The only preserved issue is whether the 
State presented sufficient evidence that Appellant shot Ashley R.  Because, 
viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, I find the trial court 
properly submitted this case to the jury and denied Appellant's directed verdict 
motions, the inquiry should end here.  However, further addressing the majority 
opinion, I also note Appellant never raised an issue to the trial court in regard to 
any inconsistencies with the verdicts and does not appear to have done so on 

8 As the State notes in its brief, a proper remedy on remand "would be retrial of 
Williams on the charge of ABHAN and possession of a weapon during the 
commission of a violent crime." 
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appeal.  Rather, the majority latches on to this, at least in part, as an underlying 
basis for reversing Appellant's convictions.  Nonetheless, even assuming there is 
no error preservation problem in this regard as well, given the evidence and 
arguments presented at trial, I do not have the same problem the majority does in 
"reconcil[ing] the jury's acquittal of [Appellant] on the attempted murder charge 
for the shooting of Myers with its guilty verdict for an attempted murder of Ashley 
R."  As more fully set out below, based upon the evidence presented at trial— 
particularly that by Appellant—as well as the argument of defense counsel, the 
jury could have concluded that Appellant fired the bullet that struck Ashley R. but 
that a third person fired the bullet that struck Myers.  Finally, I disagree with the 
majority's conclusion that—based upon our supreme court's recent 
pronouncements in this area of law—the doctrine of transferred intent is 
inapplicable in this attempted murder case.  Accordingly, I would affirm 
Appellant's convictions. 

I. FACTUAL/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Around 1:30 a.m. on May 2, 2015, gunfire broke out in the parking lot of Club 
Cream in Sumter, where a teen party had just taken place.  Three individuals 
suffered gunshot wounds during the incident:  Ashley R., a then fifteen-year-old 
female who was shot in her left leg; Malik Myers, a then seventeen-year-old male 
who was shot in his left leg and admitted he fired a .38 revolver during the 
incident; and Qawiyy McFadden, who was outside Appellant's car at the time of 
the shooting and suffered a gunshot wound to his ear.  Upon securing the scene, 
officers located a Springfield model XD .40 Smith and Wesson pistol in a grassy 
area, as well as six spent shell casings.  All six of the fired cartridge cases were 
later determined to have been fired from the recovered Springfield Smith and 
Wesson—a gun Appellant admitted he fired and abandoned at the scene on the 
night in question.  No other weapon was found at the scene and it was noted that if 
a revolver had been shot, it would not have left any shell casings, as such would 
have remained in the cylinder of the gun. 

Appellant was indicted on two counts of attempted murder: one for the attempted 
murder of Myers, based upon his firing a gun at Myers, and the second for the 
attempted murder of Ashley R., based upon his firing a gun at Myers but striking 
Ashley R.  Appellant was also charged with possession of a weapon during the 
commission of a violent crime.  Myers was likewise indicted on two counts of 
attempted murder: one for the attempted murder of Appellant, based upon his 
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firing a gun at Appellant, and the second for the attempted murder of McFadden, 
based upon his firing a gun at Appellant and hitting McFadden.  He was also 
charged with possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime 
stemming from this incident.  Myers thereafter entered a guilty plea in regard to 
this matter and was serving his sentence at the time of Appellant's trial. 

On May 4, 2015, Myers gave a statement to law enforcement indicating that on the 
night in question Appellant bumped into him while in the club and also made a 
hand gesture, pointing his finger at Myers as if he had a gun, pulling a trigger. 
Myers indicated in his statement that Appellant left the club first and, when Myers 
went outside and saw Appellant's car, he walked to his own car and retrieved a .38 
gun.  He was attempting to leave when he heard shooting and looked behind him to 
see that it was Appellant pointing a black gun at him and shooting.  Myers stated 
he pulled out the .38 and shot back, "shoot[ing] [Appellant's] car about 5 time[s]." 
Myers indicated he had been shot in his left leg and was taken to the hospital by a 
friend.  He stated Appellant "had beef with [him] in the pas[t]," saying things to 
him and trying to fight him.  Myers also noted in his statement that there was "a 
girl [he] was playing dice[] [with] on Poplar Square[] [and] she got shot by 
[Appellant's] gun."  Myers's statement was published to the jury. 

While on the stand in Appellant's trial, Myers was less than cooperative, denying 
that he and Appellant had ever had disagreements, denying anything happened 
between him and Appellant at the club that night, and denying that there was an 
altercation between them. When confronted with his written statement, Myers 
claimed he had "just come from the hospital" when he gave his statement and he 
"wasn't thinking right."  He denied that he and Appellant bumped into each other 
that night, and when asked if Appellant shot him that night, Myers replied, "Nope. 
I don't know."  He agreed that he told law enforcement that Appellant bumped into 
him that night, but testified he really did not see his face and only "figured it was 
[Appellant]."  He acknowledged, however, that he had identified Appellant as the 
person who made the hand gestures at him and told law enforcement that Appellant 
began shooting at him and he shot back. He testified that once he was outside the 
club, he armed himself with a .38 revolver, not because of an altercation inside the 
club with Appellant but "because anything could have happened after the club." 
When asked on the stand how many shots he fired at Appellant, Myers stated he 
fired all six shots from the revolver.  Myers testified he did not know if Appellant 
was shooting or not, and he just knew that he got shot and he did not know who 
shot him. 
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Ashley R. testified she exited the club and was in the parking lot when she heard 
"fight, gun, shooting."  By the time she could duck down, she felt something akin 
to a bee sting, touched her leg, and began to panic.  She heard two or three 
gunshots and saw Myers begin to shoot after those gunshots.  She specifically 
testified she did not see Myers shoot first.9 About four or five gunshots were fired 
before she felt herself get hit by a bullet.  She told law enforcement she did not 
know who it was, but there was an unknown black male—and she described his 
clothing—who was one of the people involved in the shooting that night.  She did 
not know Myers at the time of the shooting, but he later apologized to her about the 
incident and that was how she got to know him.  Ashley R. testified she had been 
at Poplar Square earlier on the day of the incident playing dice, and she had seen 
one of the unknown suspects there at that time.  This person at Poplar Square was 
the person she identified as the one who started shooting after she heard the two 
shots, i.e., Myers.  Ashley R. did not know who fired the first two shots. Asked 
why Myers would apologize to her if he had not shot her, Ashley R. stated she was 
not sure.  She clarified that she heard at least two people shooting guns that night, 
and she did not know who fired the gun that resulted in her injury.  Myers's then 
girlfriend, Chelsea Rogers, testified that she exited the club with Myers following 
behind her that night; as she got to the car she heard gunshots; when the gunshots 
started, Myers who had been behind her, began running toward his friends on the 
opposite side of the gunfire; and she saw Myers when the first gunshot rang out 
and he was not firing. 

9 The majority indicates Ashley R. "admitted in her written statement to police, she 
identified Myers as the man who started the shooting and her statement did not 
include that she heard shots before Myers fired his weapon."  My reading of the 
record is not in accord.  On cross-examination, Ashley R. was asked if she 
identified to the police the man who started the shooting as the one who she saw at 
Poplar Square.  She responded, "Yes, but. . . after I heard the two shots shooting." 
Thus, she clearly indicated she had identified the person she saw at Poplar Square 
as one of the shooters, but not as the first shooter.  Further, when challenged as to 
whether she mentioned to the police that someone else had shot first, Ashley R. 
twice insisted that she did write that, and she thereafter continued to maintain that 
she heard two shots before Myers began shooting.  Ashley R.'s written statement is 
not included in the record. 
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South Carolina Law Enforcement (SLED) Agent Michelle Eichenmiller, qualified 
as an expert witness in ballistics and firearm examination, testified that she tested 
the six cartridge cases found at the scene, the bullet recovered from Ashley R., and 
a bullet test fired from the gun recovered at the scene.  The agent opined all the 
fired cartridge cases found at the scene were fired by the Springfield model XD .40 
Smith and Wesson.  When she compared the test fired bullet to the bullet recovered 
from Ashley R., however, there were not enough individual characteristics to form 
an opinion as to whether the bullet recovered from Ashley R. was fired from that 
gun.  Agent Eichenmiller observed they "rifled the same," they had "six lands and 
grooves" that were approximately the same width, and both had six twists to the 
right, but the comparison was deemed inconclusive.  Agent Eichenmiller testified it 
was not uncommon to be unable to make a conclusive match, even when she has 
observed a bullet shot from a firearm, explaining that a well-produced or well-
cared for firearm may not have enough individual marks from which to form an 
opinion, and a Springfield is typically a little bit better manufactured gun.  She 
testified the recovered bullet could have been fired from a 10-millimeter firearm or 
a .40 Smith and Wesson.  When asked if it could have been fired from a .38, the 
agent stated it was a little bit larger than a .38 and, depending on the firearm, she 
had seen some that had worn barrels that it possibly could have been fired from, 
"but not usually."  Agent Eichenmiller also agreed there were other weapons that 
would fire a .40 round, but observed those firearms have different rifling than what 
they saw in the Springfield and in the bullet they had.  Notably, the State presented 
no evidence concerning ballistics or the bullet wound in regard to Myers other than 
he sustained an injury to his left leg. 

Detective Nathalie Kelly testified Appellant gave a statement on May 6, 2015, 
following his arrest.  Appellant's statement was admitted without objection and 
published to the jury, providing as follows:  

I got to Club Cream at like 11:00 in my green Mustang.  I 
went in the club and danced around until the party was 
over.  When I got out, I was sitting in my car about to 
leave.  I seen [Myers] about to walk up to my car, so I 
got out and went to the back, opened my car, and by the 
time I got to the back to open my car, [Myers] had his 
gun and I had a gun.  So he started shooting, so I started 
shooting, but I was shooting in the back of my car so the 
bullets wouldn't hit nobody.  And I didn't want him to 
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think I was shooting in the air.  And when I was inside 
the club, [Myers] bumped into me, so I already knew he 
was up to something. 

I was behind my car shooting into my car so my gun 
looked like it was pointing at him. He was in the front of 
my car shooting and threw my gun under the tree because 
I seen a security. 

Detective Kelly testified that, outside of his written statement, Appellant indicated 
that the gun they recovered was the gun he referred to in his statement as being 
thrown under a tree that he used that night.  Detective Kelly testified that Myers 
was charged with shooting at Appellant and with shooting McFadden, who had 
been in Appellant's car, and that Appellant's Mustang sustained bullet holes.  She 
further stated that Appellant claimed he shot into the back of his car.  Law 
enforcement had several pictures depicting holes in the canopy portion of 
Appellant's car. 

Following Detective Kelly's testimony, the State rested, at which point Appellant 
moved for a directed verdict.  The following colloquy occurred: 

[Defense Counsel]:  . . . . Your, Honor, at this time I 
would move for a directed verdict on behalf of my client. 
I certainly don't think the State has met its burden beyond 
a reasonable doubt. From its own witness testimony 
today, it was very difficult for [Myers].  Said he's not 
sure who shot him. Of course, we sort of heard from 
him, it's sort of hard to believe what he says.  But even 
some of the other testimony, even the expert witness they 
had, she couldn't say conclusively that that bullet that 
was pulled out of Ashley's leg was shot by this weapon 
that we have here in court. 

[The Court]:  She didn't say it was not, either. 

[Defense Counsel]:  Yeah, but she didn't say it was, 
either.  Anyway, I'm making that motion here on — — 
on those grounds, Your Honor. 
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. . . 

[Solicitor]:  Your Honor, there's testimony on the record 
from multiple witnesses, some through impeachment 
purposes, but [from] multiple witnesses that [Appellant] 
shot first.  [Appellant] himself admitted that there had 
been bad blood between them in the club.  [] Myers 
through his statement under impeachment acknowledged 
they had bad blood in the club.  They both armed 
themselves, and started a shootout.  I think this becomes 
a jury question.  I certainly think we've established 
malice aforethought.  As it pertains to Ashley R., Your 
Honor, I think there is strong evidence that the bullet did 
come from the gun. The barreling, the rifling is all the 
same.  It was not able to be conclusive, but there's plenty 
for me to argue, and I think it's a jury question at this 
point.  And also just specifically because he was not 
shooting directly at Ashley, I would point out that we're 
proceeding under transferred intent and we do believe 
that he was firing his gun with malice and the bullet 
struck Ashley R. 

. . . 

And Your Honor, the other thing, these are violent crimes 
and he's admitted he had a gun. 

[The Court]:  All right.  Rule 19 of the South Carolina 
rules of criminal procedure provides that upon the motion 
of the defendant or on its own motion, the Court should 
direct a verdict for defendant — — in the defendant's 
favor on any offense charged in [an] indictment after the 
evidence on either side is closed if there's a failure of 
competent evidence tending to prove the charges in the 
indictment. . . . [T]he rule goes on to say that in ruling on 
this motion, the trial judge shall consider only the 
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existence or nonexistence of the evidence and not its 
weight. 

My recollection of the testimony was that — — whether 
it's believable or not does not matter, but my recollection 
of the testimony is that the defendant, [Appellant], fired 
first and was firing at both [] Myers and that by 
transferred intent, at the other victim in this case.  And 
my job is to determine the existence or nonexistence of 
the evidence and not its weight.  That is a matter solely 
for the jury to determine, and it would be improper for 
me to interpose my opinion of the evidence or to weigh 
the evidence and grant a . . . directed verdict if there is 
any evidence in the record.  And there is evidence in the 
record, both direct and circumstantial that would support 
the charges in this case.  The motion is respectfully 
denied. 

Thereafter, Appellant presented witnesses on his own behalf.  First, McFadden 
testified he left Club Cream around 1:00 a.m. and was sitting in Appellant's 
Mustang10 when he saw everyone coming out of the club, at which time he exited 
the car to see what everyone was planning for the night.  Then, "shots started going 
off" and he saw Appellant go toward the back of his car.  By about the first five 
shots, McFadden had been shot in his left ear.  He did not see who was shooting, 
and he did not see Appellant shooting.  After he was shot, Appellant drove him to 
the hospital. 

Appellant also presented Crime Scene Investigator Amanda Snapp as his witness. 
Investigator Snapp took pictures of Appellant's car several days after the incident. 
Investigator Snapp stated she was not an expert and could not testify concerning 
the trajectory of a bullet.  However, she did state she found what appeared to be 
five holes in the roof line of Appellant's vehicle.  Additionally, when asked about 
the direction of the bullets, she stated, "there [were] no bullet holes in the front of 

10 McFadden testified Appellant's car had been backed into the parking space 
with his car facing toward the club. 
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the vehicle, so I can only imagine that they came from the back of the vehicle, 
most likely." 

Lastly, Appellant testified in his own defense.  Like Myers, he was seventeen years 
old at the time of the incident.  Appellant testified that on the night in question, 
Myers bumped into him while inside the club, and he knew "something was going 
to happen" once they left the club because the two of them "had problems since 
[they were] in middle school."  Appellant stated he exited the club around 1:30 and 
went to his car, which he had backed into a parking space.  He saw Myers coming 
toward his car and observed Myers had a gun.  According to Appellant, he then got 
out of his car and when he got to the back of his car, Myers started shooting. 
That's when Appellant started shooting and then ran off and threw his gun under a 
tree when he saw a security guard.  Appellant explained that when he was 
shooting, he shot into the back of his car so Myers would think he was shooting at 
him and he would run off, but Myers did not run.  Rather, Myers came close to 
shooting Appellant and Appellant ran.  When Appellant returned to the car, he 
found out McFadden had been shot and took him to the hospital.  Appellant stated 
he was not sure why Myers wanted to shoot him but he knew they "had beef" since 
middle school.  He denied shooting first, claiming Myers shot first, Myers shot 
more than one time, and there were no bullet holes in the front of his car but 
several in the rear where Appellant was standing.  Appellant denied shooting 
Myers or Ashley R. that night. 

On cross-examination, Appellant admitted the shell casings found at the scene 
came from his black Springfield .40 that he dropped in the bushes.  Appellant 
stated he was not sure if he fired every round directly into his car, but he tried to 
get all of them in the car, and there were five holes in the top of his car.  When 
asked what happened to the sixth bullet, Appellant stated that he "probably shot it 
into the ground."  He stated "everything was happening too fast" but that he knew 
that he "was shooting the back of [his] car so [he] wouldn't hit anybody."  When 
questioned about how many rounds Myers fired at him, Appellant stated it was 
more than one but he was not sure if it was more than two or three.  When the 
solicitor then asked if he and Myers were the only two shooters out there that 
night, Appellant replied, "No. It was other shooters out there because I — — yeah. 
It was other shooters out there."  When the solicitor challenged Appellant as to 
why he had not stated that during questioning by defense counsel or told 
Investigator Kelly, Appellant maintained he had told both defense counsel and the 
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investigator, and continued to maintain in his testimony that there was another 
shooter that night. 

The defense rested and the State called Investigator Kelly in reply, who testified 
Appellant never indicated to her that there was any other shooter in this matter 
besides him and Myers.  After the State again rested, defense counsel stated, "Your 
Honor, just move again for a directed verdict in this matter for the reasons I stated 
earlier."  The trial court again noted it was to consider only the existence or 
nonexistence of evidence, not its weight, found there was evidence in the record 
from which the jury could conclude that the offenses occurred, and denied 
Appellant's motion. 

During the solicitor's closing argument, he argued Appellant was guilty of the 
attempted murder of Ashley R. based upon the doctrine of transferred intent. 
Defense counsel argued in closing that the defense did not contest the fact that 
Myers and Ashley R. were shot, but argued the State failed to prove that Appellant 
shot both of them.  Counsel also argued the evidence showed that five bullets 
entered the back of Appellant's car, which left one remaining bullet, and suggested 
this one "magic bullet" would have had to hit Myers, "make a right turn, go around 
Ashley, [and] hit Ashley on the other side on her left leg" to fit the State's theory. 

During a discussion on jury charges, the solicitor requested an instruction on 
transferred intent, which the court indicated it intended to charge with no objection 
from the defense.11 The trial court thereafter instructed the jury on the doctrine of 
transferred intent without objection.  The jury was instructed that if it were to find 
Appellant not guilty of both the attempted murder of Myers and Ashley R., it was 
to go no further in its deliberations, but if it found Appellant "guilty of either of the 
attempted murder charges," it was to then consider the separate charge of 
possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.  Accordingly, 

11 We note the trial court asked defense counsel if he believed a charge on 
transferred intent was appropriate, to which counsel replied, "Yes, sir," but he then 
noted some hesitancy because he mistakenly believed—as verified by review of 
the indictments—that Myers had been charged with shooting Ashley R. When it 
was clarified that Myers had not been charged with shooting Ashley R. but had 
been charged with shooting McFadden and Appellant had been charged with 
shooting Ashley R., defense counsel raised no objection to a transferred intent 
charge. 
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the jury was implicitly instructed that permissible verdicts included guilty verdicts 
as to only one of either of the attempted murder charges.  Following deliberations, 
the jury found Appellant not guilty of the attempted murder of Myers, guilty of the 
attempted murder of Ashley R., and guilty of possession of a firearm during the 
commission of a violent crime. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with 
the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." State v. Prather, 429 
S.C. 583, 608, 840 S.E.2d 551, 564 (2020) (quoting State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 
620, 624, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2009)).  "In an appeal from the denial of a directed 
verdict motion, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the State." Id. (quoting State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 348, 748 S.E.2d 
194, 210 (2013)).  "When the evidence presented merely raises a suspicion of the 
accused's guilt, the trial court should not refuse to grant the directed verdict 
motion." State v. Phillips, 416 S.C. 184, 192, 785 S.E.2d 448, 452 (2016). 
"However, the trial court must submit the case to the jury if there is 'any substantial 
evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which 
his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.'" Id. at 192-93, 785 S.E.2d 448 
(quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). 

III. LAW/ANALYSIS 

On appeal, Appellant argues there is no substantial circumstantial evidence that he 
shot Ashley R. or that he specifically intended to attempt to murder her.  He argues 
the same was true of Myers, the jury acquitted him of that attempted murder, and if 
he did not possess the intent to shoot Myers, it is hard to fathom how the trial court 
thought there was substantial circumstantial evidence he attempted to shoot and 
kill Ashley R.  Appellant points to the testimony of the SLED expert that the 
comparison of the bullet removed from Ashley R.'s leg to that of one test fired 
from the Springfield .40 caliber weapon yielded an inconclusive result.  He 
maintains that such an inconclusive result does not rise to the level of substantial 
circumstantial evidence, and further argues "there is no evidence [he] intended to 
shoot and kill Ashley." Appellant contends the trial court committed error in 
reasoning that the State carried its burden at the directed verdict stage because he 
could be guilty by reason of transferred intent.  I disagree. 
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A. Preservation of Transferred Intent Argument 

It is well settled that, in order to be preserved for appellate review, an issue must 
be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. McKnight, 352 S.C. 635, 
646, 576 S.E.2d 168, 174 (2003).  "The general rule of issue preservation is if an 
issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, it will not be considered 
for the first time on appeal." State v. Porter, 389 S.C. 27, 37, 698 S.E.2d 237, 242 
(Ct. App. 2010). "Imposing this preservation requirement is meant to enable the 
trial court to rule properly after it has considered all the relevant facts, law, and 
arguments." Id. at 38, 698 S.E.2d at 242.  An appellate court is limited by 
appellate rules that allow the court to consider only the precise question that was 
before the trial court and ruled upon by the court. State v. Whitten, 375 S.C. 43, 
47, 649 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct. App. 2007). "[E]rror preservation has been a critical 
part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure . . . that we 
do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court." Atl. Coast 
Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 
(2012).  "Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair 
opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for 
meaningful appellate review." Id. (quoting Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. 
Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. 
App. 2006)).  "[T]hese rules must . . . be applied consistently and not selectively." 
Id. "[T]his is not a 'gotcha' game aimed at embarrassing attorneys or harming 
litigants, but rather is an adherence to settled principles that serve an important 
function." Id. at 329-30, 730 S.E.2d at 285.  "While it may be good practice for us 
to reach the merits of an issue when error preservation is doubtful, we should 
follow our longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation grounds 
when it clearly is unpreserved." Id. at 330, 730 S.E.2d at 285. "A party need not 
use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear 
that the argument has been presented on that ground." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 
138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). "[T]he issue must be sufficiently clear to 
bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably 
understood by the [trial court]." Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 
S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). 

As noted, the only basis for Appellant's directed verdict motion was that the State 
failed to meet its burden to prove he shot Myers or that the bullet that struck 
Ashley R. was shot by Appellant's weapon.  Because Appellant was acquitted of 
the attempted murder of Myers, the only preserved issue on appeal is whether the 
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trial court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict as related to the charge 
concerning Ashley R., i.e., whether there was sufficient evidence Appellant's bullet 
struck Ashley R. The Solicitor specifically addressed the argument actually raised 
by Appellant, asserting there was "strong evidence" that the bullet which hit 
Ashley R. did come from Appellant's gun.  Although the solicitor included in his 
response that the State was proceeding under the theory of transferred intent in 
regard to Ashley R., the mere fact that he noted this as the State's theory of the 
case, and the trial court recognized this as the State's theory, did not raise to the 
trial court that Appellant contested the applicability of that theory.  Notably, when 
the solicitor specifically stated during the directed verdict motion that the State was 
proceeding on this basis, Appellant raised no objection and made no argument that 
he was entitled to a directed verdict because transferred intent could not be applied 
to a specific intent crime.  Further, the trial court charged transferred intent to the 
jury without objection, thereby evidencing Appellant's acquiescence to the theory 
in his trial.  Indeed, as observed by the State in oral argument, the solicitor made 
clear from the outset of the case the State was proceeding with the attempted 
murder of Ashley R. charge—through the theory of transferred intent—based upon 
Appellant's firing a gun at Myers, and at no time during the trial did Appellant 
object to that theory.  Accordingly, at a minimum, the theory of transferred intent 
was tried by consent, and Appellant should not now be allowed to grasp onto it as a 
basis for his directed verdict motion simply because it was mentioned by the 
solicitor as the State's theory of the case when presenting the State's case in 
response.  I do not believe that in any manner the trial court could have possibly 
understood from Appellant's directed verdict motion that he was challenging the 
sufficiency of the evidence on the attempted murder charge in relation to Ashley R. 
on the basis that Appellant was required to have a specific intent to shoot her and 
could not be guilty by virtue of transferred intent.  While the trial court clearly 
recognized—and restated—that the State was proceeding under the theory of 
transferred intent in this attempted murder, specific-intent crime, Appellant did not 
raise to the court that such was improper, and neither did the trial court consider 
"all the facts, law, and arguments" regarding the same and make a ruling on such. 
See Porter, 389 S.C. at 37-38, 698 S.E.2d at 242 ("Imposing [the preservation 
requirement that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court] is meant to 
enable the trial court to rule properly after it has considered all the relevant facts, 
law, and arguments."). Because the trial court was not given an opportunity to 
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consider all the relevant facts, law, and argument and rule on this issue, I would 
find it is not preserved for appellate review.12 

As to Appellant's argument that the evidence was insufficient to rise to the level of 
substantial circumstantial evidence that he shot Ashley R., I also disagree.  Though 
the evidence was inconclusive as to whether the bullet recovered from Ashley R.'s 
leg was fired from Appellant's weapon, it is undisputed that all six of the cartridges 
at the scene were fired from Appellant's Springfield model XD .40 Smith and 
Wesson.  Further, the SLED expert testified a comparison of the bullet fired from 
that weapon and the bullet retrieved from Ashley R.'s leg showed they were rifled 
the same, they had "six lands and grooves" that were approximately the same 
width, and they had six twists to the right.  Though a .38 caliber weapon could fire 
a .40 round if the barrel was worn enough, the expert testified that was not usually 
the case.  Further, while there were other weapons that could fire a .40 round, those 
other weapons did not have the same rifling as seen on a Springfield.  Additionally, 
aside from the ballistic evidence, Ashley R. identified Myers as the person she had 
seen earlier on the day of the shooting when she was at Poplar Square playing dice, 
and in his written statement to law enforcement, Myers indicated that a girl he was 
playing dice with on Poplar Square "got shot by [Appellant's] gun" that night. 
Thus, there is additional evidence Appellant shot Ashley R. that night. 
Accordingly, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, I would 
find no error in the trial court's determination of the sufficiency of evidence to send 
the matter to the jury. See Prather, 429 S.C. at 608, 840 S.E.2d at 564 ("When 
ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the 
existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." (quoting Hernandez, 382 

12 I acknowledge the State did not challenge Appellant's preservation of this issue 
in its appellate brief. It is well settled, though, that an appellate court is "not 
precluded from finding an issue unpreserved even when the parties themselves do 
not argue error preservation to us." Lewis, 398 S.C. at 329, 730 S.E.2d at 285 
(2012).  As aptly observed by the majority, an adversary's silence may "serve as an 
indicator to the court of the obscurity of the purported procedural flaw." Id. at 333, 
730 S.E.2d at 287 (Toal, C.J., concurring in result in part and dissenting in part).  I 
note, however, at the time of the filing of its brief, the State relied on this court's 
recent case law—discussed further below—in which this court unwaveringly 
applied the doctrine of transferred intent to the crime of attempted murder. 
Further, at oral argument, the State left no doubt that it was, in fact, challenging the 
preservation of this issue on appeal. 
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S.C. at 624, 677 S.E.2d at 605)); id. ("In an appeal from the denial of a directed 
verdict motion, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the State." (quoting Cope, 405 S.C. at 348, 748 S.E.2d at 210)); 
Phillips, 416 S.C. at 192-93, 785 S.E.2d at 452 ("[T]he trial court must submit the 
case to the jury if there is 'any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to 
prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically 
deduced.'" (quoting Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127)). 

B. Verdict Inconsistencies 

Appellant argues the jury acquitted him of the attempted murder of Myers, and if 
he did not intend to shoot Myers, "it is hard to fathom how the [trial court] thought 
there was substantial circumstantial evidence [he] attempted to shoot and kill 
Ashley R."  The majority notes it "cannot reconcile the jury's acquittal of 
[Appellant] on the attempted murder charge for the shooting of Myers with its 
guilty verdict for an attempted murder of Ashley R.," maintaining the indictment 
language and the State's contention it was proceeding under the doctrine of 
transferred intent whereby Appellant was firing his gun with malice and struck 
Ashley R. were "incongruous with such a result."  In effect, Appellant and the 
majority are maintaining Appellant's convictions should be reversed, in part, based 
upon the inconsistencies in the verdicts.  I disagree.  First, Appellant has not set 
forth any inconsistency in the verdict in his issues on appeal. See Rule 
208(b)(1)(B), SCACR ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set 
forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.").  At any rate, I have no problem 
reconciling the jury's verdict of acquittal on the charge in regard to Myers and the 
guilty verdict in regard to Ashley R.  I readily concede the jury could have returned 
guilty verdicts of the attempted murder of Myers and Ashley R. based on its belief 
that Appellant shot six bullets, five hit his car, and one hit Ashley R., with his 
intent that a bullet strike Myers but did not. Whether a bullet he aimed at Myers 
actually struck him is of no consequence, for attempted murder does not require an 
injury to the person. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2015) ("A person who, with 
intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either 
expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.").  However, it is 
understandable that the jury did not appreciate this nuance, especially given the 
fact that (1) Myers discouraged the jury from holding Appellant responsible for 
shooting him; (2) the defense introduced evidence there was a third shooter 
present; (3) the State presented evidence the bullet that struck Ashley R. could 
have been fired from the gun used by Appellant that night but presented no 
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evidence concerning the bullet that struck Myers; (4) the defense argued to the jury 
that five of the six bullets shot by Appellant hit Appellants car and it would have 
had to have been a "magic bullet" to have hit both Ashley R. and Myers, implying 
to the jury that Appellant could not be guilty of shooting both of them; and (5) the 
jury was implicitly instructed a permissible verdict included one in which 
Appellant could be found guilty on either count of attempted murder without being 
found guilty on the other.  Notably, Appellant raised no exception to the jury 
instruction in this regard, nor did he raise any argument to the trial court that the 
verdicts were inconsistent.  Further, while Appellant argues it is hard to fathom 
how the trial court could think there was substantial circumstantial evidence he 
attempted to shoot and kill Ashley R. if he did not intend to shoot Myers—as 
evidenced by Appellant's acquittal of the attempted murder of Myers—what 
Appellant fails to appreciate is that the trial court was not looking at the evidence 
through the lens of what the jury would eventually, in fact, determine.  Rather, the 
trial court was looking at the evidence through the lens of what the jury could, 
based upon the evidence, determine. See Phillips, 416 S.C. at 193, 785 S.E.2d at 
452 ("[T]he lens through which a [trial] court considers circumstantial evidence 
when ruling on a directed verdict motion is distinct from the analysis performed by 
the jury." (quoting State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 236, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 
(2016)).  In short, I believe any perplexities in the jury's verdict result, not from the 
trial court's proper denial of Appellant's succinct directed verdict motion, but from 
the manner in which the case was tried and the successful argument of trial counsel 
that Appellant could not be responsible for both bullets that hit Ashley R. and 
Myers. 

C. Transferred Intent and Attempted Murder 

Finally, I disagree with the majority's determination that, given Appellant's 
acquittal of attempted murder as relates to Myers, the recent pronouncements by 
our supreme court in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), State v. 
Gerald Williams, 427 S.C. 148, 829 S.E.2d 702 (2019) (Gerald Williams II), and 
State v. Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 495 (2020) (Smith II) mandate a 
determination that the doctrine of transferred intent is inapplicable to the attempted 
murder charge as relates to Ashley R.  As noted, the fact that Appellant was 
acquitted of the attempted murder of Myers is understandable based upon the 
manner in which the case was tried before the jury. Whether certain arguments 
and motions should have been raised by defense counsel at trial is a matter perhaps 
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to be addressed in a post-conviction relief action, but matters not addressed to the 
trial court should not be the basis for reversal on appeal. 

Undoubtedly, King provides the crime of attempted murder is a specific-intent 
crime which requires proof of specific intent to commit murder.  422 S.C. at 55, 
810 S.E.2d at 22.  However, what remains to be resolved by our supreme court is 
whether the doctrine of transferred intent applies to attempted murder.  This court, 
however, has twice addressed the issue, and on both occasions has answered the 
question in the affirmative. 

In the first case, Gerald Williams I, this court found the doctrine of transferred 
intent applied to that attempted murder case, finding the statute governing the 
crime did not require the specific intent to murder a specific victim; rather, the 
requisite specific intent for attempted murder is the specific intent to commit 
murder. State v. Gerald Williams, 422 S.C. 525, 542, 812 S.E.2d 917, 925-26 (Ct. 
App. 2018), aff'd in part as modified, vacated in part, 427 S.C. 148, 829 S.E.2d 
702 (2019).  However, our supreme court granted certiorari and ultimately vacated 
the portion of this court's opinion in Gerald Williams I concerning the application 
of transferred intent in an attempted murder scenario. Gerald Williams II, 427 S.C. 
at 158, 829 S.E.2d at 707.  There, our supreme court noted this court had found the 
doctrine of transferred intent applied to the specific-intent crime of attempted 
murder; however, inasmuch as Williams failed to challenge the trial court's jury 
instruction that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, but 
there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury, that unappealed 
ruling became the law of the case. Id. at 157, 829 S.E.2d 706-07.  Accordingly, 
Williams's attempted murder case was tried, without objection, as a general-intent 
crime. Id. at 158, 829 S.E.2d 707.  Because this court had erroneously "treated the 
case as if it had been tried as a specific-intent crime," our supreme court vacated 
that portion of our opinion dealing with the issue of transferred intent and, 
pointedly, decided to "leave for another day the determination of whether the 
doctrine [of transferred intent] applies to attempted murder." Id. at 157-58, 829 
S.E.2d 707 (emphasis added). 

In the second instance, Smith I, this court addressed numerous issues raised by 
Smith following his conviction for attempted murder.  In particular, Smith argued 
three separate bases for reversal: (1) he was entitled to a directed verdict based on 
the State's failure to prove he had the specific intent to kill the victim; (2) he was 
entitled to a mistrial based upon improper statements made by the prosecution in 
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closing arguments; and (3) the trial court erred in instructing the jury it could infer 
malice based upon the "felony murder rule." State v. Smith, 425 S.C. 20, 24, 819 
S.E.2d 187, 189 (Ct. App. 2018), rev'd and remanded, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 
495 (2020).  This court affirmed Smith's conviction finding (1) a mistrial was not 
warranted based upon the solicitor's improper remarks, 425 S.C. at 39, 819 S.E.2d 
at 197, and (2) no error under any of the several bases argued by Smith concerning 
the "felony murder rule."  425 S.C. at 39-47, 819 S.E.2d at 197-201.  Further, we 
disagreed with Smith's argument that "he was entitled to a directed verdict on the 
attempted murder charge because the State was required to show his specific intent 
to kill [the victim] and the State could not rely on the transferred intent doctrine to 
make this showing." 425 S.C. at 28, 819 S.E.2d at 191.  After examining, among 
other things, our law on transferred intent, this court concluded "the State properly 
relied on the transferred intent doctrine to show specific intent as to [the victim]" 
and affirmed the denial of Smith's directed verdict motion.  425 S.C. at 32-34, 819 
S.E.2d at 193-94.  Our supreme court granted certiorari and issued an opinion 
reversing and remanding Smith's attempted murder and possession of a weapon 
during the commission of a violent crime convictions.  Smith II, 430 S.C. at 230, 
845 S.E.2d at 496-97.  The basis for the reversal was solely on improper jury 
instruction because (1) "felony attempted-murder is not a recognized crime in 
South Carolina, and, therefore, any jury charge to that effect [is] error" and (2) 
"trial courts may no longer give an implied malice charge when there has been 
evidence presented that the defendant acted in self-defense."  430 S.C. at 230, 845 
S.E.2d at 496.  Although Smith also argued that this court erred in finding the 
doctrine of transferred intent applied to attempted murder because it was a 
specific-intent crime—which required the specific intent to kill a specific person— 
our supreme court specifically declined to reach the issue, finding resolution of the 
other issues dispositive and noting the State indicated its intent, on retrial, to 
charge Smith with a general intent crime for the shooting of the victim in that 
matter.  430 S.C. at 234 n.9, 845 S.E.2d at 499 n.9. 

In sum, I find nothing in King, Gerald Williams II, and Smith II to indicate our 
courts have concluded the doctrine of transferred intent is inapplicable to a charge 
of attempted murder.  Further, I can discern no analysis from the majority as to 
why transferred intent should not apply in such a case.  Inasmuch as our supreme 
court chose not to address the issue, I would decline to depart from the well-
reasoned analysis as set forth by Judge Geathers in Smith I.  However, as I 
expressed from the outset, I do not believe we should reach this issue.  Appellant 
failed to raise this as a basis for his motion for directed verdict. Further, even 
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assuming the mention of the theory by the State and the trial court during 
discussion of the motion was sufficient to encompass the theory as a basis of 
Appellant's directed verdict motion, I do not believe the question of whether the 
doctrine of transferred intent applied to the specific-intent crime of attempted 
murder here should be addressed, as Appellant never challenged the trial court's 
instruction to the jury on transferred intent. See Gerald Williams II, 427 S.C. at 
157-58, 829 S.E.2d at 707 (vacating the portion of this court's decision dealing 
with the issue of transferred intent and a specific-intent crime because Williams 
failed to challenge the trial court's instruction to the jury that specific intent to kill 
was not an element of the crime of attempted murder, but there must be a general 
intent to commit serious bodily injury and, accordingly, Williams's attempted 
murder case was tried, without objection, as a general-intent crime). 
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County. 

HILL, J.: The subject of this action is a parcel of real property York County sold 
at a 2014 tax sale.  The appellant, Alterna Tax Asset Group, LLC, claims in its 
complaint that it bought the property at the tax sale.  Alterna seeks to void the sale 
and cancel its ownership, relying upon § 12-61-10 of the South Carolina Code 
(2014), which states in part: 

Any . . . person . . . , [that] has purchased at or acquired 
through a tax sale and obtained title to any real or personal 
property, may bring an action in the court of common 
pleas of such county for the purpose of barring all other 
claims thereto. 

In its complaint, Alterna maintains its title to the property is clouded because the 
sale was defective due to York County's failure to provide proper notice. Under this 
theory, Alterna alleges four causes of action against York County and the other 
Respondents: (1) declaratory judgment, (2) injunctive relief, (3) quiet title, and (4) 
unjust enrichment. 

After hearing Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP motions to dismiss, the Master 
consulted York County's public real property records and took judicial notice that 
Alterna was neither the purchaser of the property at the tax sale, nor the owner 
currently listed on the deed.  Accordingly, the Master ruled Alterna was not a real 
party in interest and lacked standing to sue Respondents regarding the sale.  As an 
alternative ground for dismissal, the Master ruled that § 12-61-10 does not create a 
valid cause of action to void a tax sale.  Alterna now appeals. 

I. 

A. S.C. Code § 12-61-10 and Alterna's claims for declaratory judgment and 
injunctive relief 

Alterna claims the Master erred in taking judicial notice of the real property public 
records. See Rule 201, SCRE (providing when judicial notice is permitted).  The 
Master's use of judicial notice at the motion to dismiss stage in these circumstances 
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was problematic, but this appeal may be decided by a more fundamental issue: 
whether, as the alleged tax sale purchaser, Alterna may seek to rescind its successful 
purchase based on the facts alleged here. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (appellate court 
may affirm upon any ground appearing in record). The plain language of § 12-61-10 
states one who has acquired title through a tax sale "may bring an action . . . for the 
purpose of barring all other claims thereto." We agree with the Master that the 
purpose of § 12-61-10 is to clear a tax title, and we hold Alterna states no viable 
cause of action under § 12-61-10 when its prayer for relief is to defeat rather than 
defend its title. Accepting, as we must at the 12(b)(6) stage, Alterna's allegation that 
it purchased the property at the tax sale, we must also conclude Alterna states no 
valid cause of action for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. Accordingly, 
we affirm the dismissal of these causes of action as Alterna has failed to state a claim 
upon which relief can be granted under § 12-61-10.  

B. Alterna's claims for quiet title and unjust enrichment 

Whether a winning bidder at a tax sale may use the quiet title doctrine or claim unjust 
enrichment to defeat rather than affirm the bidder's title appear to be novel questions.  
Novel questions of law should not ordinarily be decided at the motion to dismiss 
juncture unless, as here, the issues present pure questions of law that need no further 
factual framing.  See Evans v. State, 344 S.C. 60, 68, 543 S.E.2d 547, 551 (2001). 

A quiet title action is governed by § 15-67-10 of the South Carolina Code (2005).  
We have held the intent of this statute was "to enlarge the power of the court to 
determine adverse claims to land so as to authorize the quieting of title in cases where 
an action would not lie under the strict rules of equity practice. . . .  Such a statute, 
being of a remedial nature, should be liberally construed and be held to embrace all 
cases coming fairly within its scope." Benson v. United Guar. Residential Ins. of 
Iowa, 315 S.C. 504, 509, 445 S.E.2d 647, 651 (Ct. App. 1994).  Therefore, a plaintiff 
in a quiet title action is not required to allege a trespass or even damages, and as long 
as the alleged adverse claim "cannot be classified as imaginary or speculative, the 
complaint states a cause of action under the statute." Id. 

Despite this broad reading of the quiet title statute, Benson affirmed dismissal of a 
complaint that challenged the enforceability of a judgment attaching to the plaintiff's 
land. Id. at 509–10, 445 S.E.2d at 651. The plaintiff was not alleging the judgment 
was invalid, only that it was unenforceable because it was placed against a previous 
owner's interest in the land and the previous owner had no equity due to existing 
mortgage liens. Id. We held the plaintiff's complaint failed to state a cause of action 
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for quiet title because there was no dispute the adverse claim (the judgment lien) was 
valid. Id. at 510, 445 S.E.2d at 651. 

Like the complaint in Benson, Alterna's complaint does not allege a proper cause of 
action for quiet title because there is no existing "adverse claim." Neither the County 
nor anyone else is challenging Alterna's tax title, so Alterna's complaint is 
"imaginary or speculative." Alterna is not seeking to quiet its title but to end it. 

That brings us at last to Alterna's unjust enrichment cause of action, which claims 
the County was enriched by pocketing the tax sale proceeds yet delivering a 
defective, clouded title.  This claim collides fatally with § 12-51-160 of the South 
Carolina Code (2014), which establishes as a matter of law the presumption that a 
tax deed is prima facie evidence of good title. See also Wilson v. Moseley, 327 S.C. 
144, 147, 488 S.E.2d 862, 864 (1997); Shell v. Duncan, 31 S.C. 547, 555, 10 S.E.330, 
330–31 (1889).  We further note the very clouds Alterna claims it can now see— 
York County's allegedly defective notification—were matters of public record 
visible to Alterna before the tax sale. 

C. Justiciable controversy 

There is yet another reason to affirm.  Each of Alterna's claims rests on the belief 
that its presumptively good legal title is hopelessly clouded and will someday be 
snatched away by someone with a superior claim.  Alterna therefore prays that the 
court deem its title void and undo what has been done.  This is the hallmark of a 
non-justiciable controversy, one Alterna has created quite on its own.  For many 
good reasons, courts may not be called upon to tame paper tigers or pass upon issues 
not subject to a genuine, concrete dispute. Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 
430–31, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996). It is true that the Uniform Declaratory 
Judgment Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-53-10 to -140 (2005), is to be liberally 
construed so courts may sort out the legal rights of parties when there is "at least the 
ripening seeds of controversy" without awaiting an actual invasion of a party's rights. 
Sunset Cay, LLC v. City of Folly Beach, 357 S.C. 414, 423, 593 S.E.2d 462, 466 
(2004). But nothing is ripening here, and any ruling we could make would be 
abstract and advisory. 

Finally, we are mindful that trial courts should not dismiss pleadings with prejudice 
at the 12(b) stage without allowing the pleader to amend its complaint (unless 
amendment would be futile). Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County., 426 S.C. 
175, 189–90, 826 S.E.2d 585, 592–93 (2019). Because any amendment would be 
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futile here, the judgment of the Master dismissing Alterna's complaint with prejudice 
is 

AFFIRMED.1 

WILLIAMS and THOMAS, JJ., concur. 

1 We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, SCACR. 
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